
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 
             
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,  :            
        : 
   Plaintiff,    :  
        : COMPLAINT 
 vs.       : Civil Action No. 
        : 3:07-cv-01188 
AMERIFIRST FUNDING, INC. aka   : 
AMERI-FIRST FUNDING, INC. aka    : 
AMERI FIRST FUNDING, INC.,     : 
AMERIFIRST ACCEPTANCE CORP.,   : 
JEFFREY C. BRUTEYN,     : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
DENNIS W. BOWDEN,     : 
        : 
   Defendants,    : 
        : 
and,         : 
        : 
AMERICAN EAGLE ACCEPTANCE CORP.,  : 
HESS FINANCIAL CORP., INTERFINANCIAL   : 
HOLDING, CORP., HESS INTERNATIONAL  : 
PROPERTIES, LLC, HESS INTERNATIONAL  : 
INVESTMENTS, S.A., UNITED FINANCIAL   : 
MARKETS, INC. and GERALD KINGSTON,  : 
        : 
        : 
   Relief Defendants.    : 
        : 
 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 
 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges the following: 
 

SUMMARY 
 

1. The Defendants in this case are operating an investment fraud through which 

they have raised at least $54 million.  Attracting investors with false promises of safety, the 

Defendants have used much of their victims’ money for their personal benefit, acquiring houses, 

commercial real estate, an airplane and automobiles, among other things. 
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2. Selling securities that they call “Secured Debt Obligations” (“SDOs”), the 

Defendants lie to their mostly elderly victims, falsely telling them that their funds will be 

conservatively invested and the securities they are being sold are safe, insured by several layers 

of coverage and guaranteed by a commercial bank.  

3. Moreover, the Defendants hide from investors the fact that Bruteyn, AmeriFirst’s 

Managing Director, has a long record of financial irresponsibility and securities-related 

violations, including bankruptcies and regulatory actions.  

4. Based on the use of investor funds, AmeriFirst, like Bruteyn’s past business 

ventures, is likely headed toward a financial collapse.  In the absence of emergency relief by 

the United States District Court, investors, many elderly, will suffer significant losses. 

5. By engaging in the conduct detailed in this Complaint, Defendants, directly or 

indirectly, singly or in concert, have engaged in, and unless enjoined will continue to engage in 

transactions, acts, practices and courses of business that constitute violations of Sections 5(a), 

5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c) and 

77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 

78j(b)] and of Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], promulgated thereunder. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. The investments offered and sold by the Defendants are “securities” under 

Section 2(1) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77b] and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act 

[15 U.S.C. § 78c].  

7. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by 

Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)], and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act 

[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)], to preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants from future violations 

of the federal securities laws.   
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8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action, and venue is proper, pursuant to 

Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)], and Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 

U.S.C. § 78aa]. 

9. Defendants, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of 

transportation and communication, and the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, 

or of the mails, in connection with the transactions, acts, practices and courses of business 

alleged herein.  Certain of the transactions, acts, practices and courses of business alleged 

herein took place in the Northern District of Texas. 

DEFENDANTS 

10. Jeffrey C. Bruteyn (“Bruteyn”), age 37, of Dallas, Texas, is Managing Director 

of Amerifirst Funding, Inc. and Amerifirst Acceptance Corporation and the Director and sole 

owner of Hess Financial Corporation.  Bruteyn was an associated person of broker-dealers from 

approximately 1994 until January 2002, when the NASD suspended him from associating with 

any NASD member for 18 months and fined him $15,000 for executing unauthorized trades, 

failing to follow customer instructions and making misrepresentations.  In March 2002, the 

NASD ordered him to pay an arbitration award of $287,000 to a former client for breaching his 

fiduciary duties, churning the customer’s account, making misrepresentations and omitting 

information, negligence in handling the account and unauthorized trading.  Further, in August 

2003, the NASD permanently barred Bruteyn from associating with any NASD member, as 

punishment for his failure to respond to the NASD’s requests for documents and information.  

Bruteyn was also the CEO of American Securities Corp., a NASD member broker-dealer whose 

registration was cancelled while under suspension for failing to respond to a request for 

financial information and failing to pay a fee.  In addition, Bruteyn filed “no-asset” Chapter 7 

personal bankruptcies in 1996 and 2003.  
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11. Dennis W. Bowden (“Bowden”), age 55, of Dallas, Texas, is the president of 

Amerifirst Funding, Inc., a director and chief operating officer of Amerifirst Acceptance 

Corporation and president and COO of American Eagle Acceptance Corporation.     

12. Amerifirst Funding, Inc. (“AFI”), is a Texas corporation operated and 

controlled by Bruteyn and Bowden.  It is in the business of offering “Secured Debt Obligations” 

and has issued these securities without a registration statement being filed with the 

Commission.  AFI has never registered a securities offering under the Securities Act and has not 

registered any class of securities under the Exchange Act.   

13. Amerifirst Acceptance Corporation (“AAC”), is a Texas corporation 

incorporated in February 2006 and controlled by Bruteyn and Bowden.  It is in the business of 

offering “Collateral Secured Notes” (“CSNs”) and is an issuer of these securities.  The CSNs are 

essentially identical to the SDOs, but are only marketed directly by AmeriFirst.  Throughout this 

Complaint, both securities will be referred to as “SDOs.”  The CSNs have not been registered 

under the Securities Act or Exchange Act, nor are they registered with any state.  AAC has 

never registered a securities offering under the Securities Act and has not registered any class 

of securities under the Exchange Act.   

RELIEF DEFENDANTS 

14. American Eagle Acceptance Corporation (“American Eagle”), is a Texas 

corporation controlled by Bowden and held out to be a subsidiary of AFI.  American Eagle holds 

at least three Motor Dealer Finance Licenses issued by the State of Texas, and is the maker of 

notes for car loans funded by Amerifirst.   

15. Hess Financial Corporation (“Hess”), is a Texas corporation controlled by 

Bruteyn.  Hess has received millions of dollars in so-called “consulting fees” from AmeriFirst and 

other related entities.  Bruteyn used some of these funds to pay “referral fees” to AmeriFirst 
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sales agents.  In addition, Hess has used millions of dollars of these investor funds to purchase 

real estate in the Dallas area and elsewhere. 

16. InterFinancial Holding Corp. (“InterFinancial”) is a Nevada corporation with 

its principal place of business at 3333 Lee Parkway, Suite 600, Highland Park, Texas 75219.  

InterFinancial at all times has been controlled by Bruteyn.  The 3333 Lee Parkway address was 

also used by Bruteyn, Kingston and Amerifirst.  InterFinancial holds itself out as “a commercial 

bank holding company that was formed to purchase the assets of affiliated companies 

specializing in the automotive finance industry.”  Although the company has never filed any 

documents with the Commission, InterFinancial stock has traded on the pink sheets under the 

symbol IFCH.  InterFinancial was apparently used by Bruteyn to funnel funds from Hess 

Financial to United Financial via buys and sells on the pink sheets.  Through an exchange of 

stock orchestrated by Bruteyn, InterFinancial appears to have gained control over 58 acres on 

the island of Roatan, Honduras that was purchased at a cost to Hess Financial of $2.198 million.   

17. Hess International Properties, LLC (“Hess LLC”) is a Texas Corporation 

whose registered agent is Corporation Service Company, 701 Brazos, Suite 1050, Austin, Texas  

78701.  Hess LLC and InterFinancial issued a press release stating:  “DALLAS -- InterFinancial 

Holdings Corp. (Pink Sheets: IFCH), announced that it had acquired 100 percent interest in 

Hess International Properties, LLC in exchange for 15,000,000 shares of its restricted common 

stock. Hess International Properties owns 58 acres of prime beachfront property on the Bay 

Islands in Roatan, Honduras, currently under development as an exclusive residential enclave. 

Hess International and its financing partners anticipate development of up to 100 lots for single 

family and multi-family residences, with amenities.”  In reality, the 58 acres has only 500 feet of 

frontage, most of the property is located on a hill side and access is via road named Mud Hole 

Road.   
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18. Hess International Investments, S.A. (“Hess SA”) is a Honduran Company 

doing business in Texas and may be served through Bruteyn.   Because Honduran law prohibits 

foreigners form owning more than .75 acres, Hess S.A. was formed to hold title to the 58 acres 

purchased on Roatan.  Hess allegedly spent $90,000 in legal fees to form Hess SA. 

19. Gerald Kingston (“Kingston”), age 42, is a resident of Irving, Texas.  He has 

served as a Director of AmeriFirst Acceptance since June 2006.  From April 1994 through July 9, 

2007, Kingston was a registered representative with a number of broker-dealers, most recently 

Jefferson Pilot Securities Corporation (“Jefferson Pilot”).   Kingston began selling defendants’ 

SDOs in February 2006.    Kingston and his company, United Financial Markets, raised 

approximately $10 million in investor funds for Amerifirst through the sale of unregistered 

securities accompanied by fraudulent representations. United Financial and Kingston were paid 

hundreds of thousands of dollars of commissions ranging from 5% to 8%.  United Financial and 

Kingston maintained their office at 3333 Lee Parkway address that was also used by Bruteyn.  

After the entry of emergency relief on July 2, 2007, Kingston purchased from Bruteyn a 

purported original artwork Pablo Picasso that was hanging in Bruteyn’s house.  Bruteyn claims 

that the artwork, sold for approximately $500,000, belonged to his step-mother, Lois Whitcraft.  

Kingston claims that he purchased the Picasso work of art from Lois Whitcraft.  The Commission 

is informed and believes, however, that the artwork was owned by Bruteyn and was transferred 

in violation of the Court’s orders.  Funds used to buy the Picasso appear to be, at least in part, 

proceeds of United Financial obtained from selling InterFinancial stock in a matched trade 

involving Bruteyn.  Kingston may be served at 3351 Kendall, Irving, Texas 75061. 

20. United Financial Markets, Inc. (“United Financial”) is a Texas Corporation 

with its principal place of business in based in Dallas.  Kingston testified that he and Bruteyn 

each own 50% of United Financial, and that he is the company’s sole director.   Bruteyn 
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attempted to conceal his ownership interest in United Financial by removing a United Financial 

stock certificate from his safe deposit box after the freeze order was in place.  Kingston controls 

United Financial’s bank and brokerage accounts.  In addition to commissions based on 

Kingston’s sales of SDOs, United Financial received a .5% to 1% override from sales of SDOs by 

at least two other sales agents.  Moreover, current Relief Defendant American Eagle, controlled 

by Bruteyn and Bowden, transferred approximately 3.4 million shares of InterFinancial stock to 

United Financial pursuant to a written agreement.   The agreement permitted United Financial 

to obtain stock at 13 cents a share; subsequently, United Financial sold 1 million shares for $1 

million.  The purchaser is believed to be Hess Financial, who purchased $2 million in 

InterFinancial stock in late 2006 and early 2007.  These funds allowed United Financial to 

apparently pay in excess of $400,000 for the Picasso work of art after this action was filed and 

the injunction and freeze order granted by the court.  The registered agent for service upon 

United Financial is whose registered agent is Corporation Service Company, 701 Brazos, Suite 

1050, Austin, Texas  78701. 

TH FRAUDULENT SCHEME 

The AmeriFirst SDO Offering in General   

21. Since at least January 2006, Bruteyn and Bowden, through AFI and AAC 

(collectively “AmeriFirst”), have raised at least $54 million from the sale of SDOs to hundreds of 

investors located primarily in Texas and Florida.  Kingston and United Financial either directly or 

through others raised approximately $10 million of the $54 million.  Many of these investors are 

senior citizens.  Both Bruteyn and Bowden control all aspects of AmeriFirst’s operations, 

including disseminating offering documents to sales agents and investors, communicating with 

sales agents and investors, authorizing banking transactions, maintaining AFI and affiliated 
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company’s brokerage accounts, signing the SDO Notes and Servicing Agreements, and 

obtaining and maintaining insurance.    

22. According to offering materials, AmeriFirst, through its American Eagle 

subsidiary, specializes in purchasing, factoring and collecting “qualified secured automobile 

receivables,” which are acquired on the open market from “select” car dealerships or generated 

through auto sales on American Eagle’s handful of used car lots.  These receivables supposedly 

secure the SDOs. 

23. AFI markets the SDOs as a higher-yielding, but equally safe, alternative to bank 

CDs, offering rates from 7% to 8% APR on two and three year terms.  While AmeriFirst has an 

in-house sales agent to process investor paperwork and respond to inquiries from potential 

investors attracted by AmeriFirst’s website, the issuer markets the SDOs in large part through a 

network of sales agents in Texas and Florida.  The entities selected by AmeriFirst as sales 

agents hold themselves out as firms specializing in providing low-risk investments to the elderly 

and persons saving for retirement.   

24. The customers who purchase the AmeriFirst investments are often lured to the 

offices of the sales agents by ads in local newspapers touting the availability of relatively high-

yielding FDIC-insured certificates of deposit.   When conservative prospective investors respond 

to the advertisements, they instead are pitched SDOs as an attractive alternative, paying a 

higher rate of interest and supposedly offering safety comparable to an FDIC-insured CD.  

25. The investment contract between AmeriFirst and its clients consists primarily of 

two documents:  (1) a document entitled “Collateral Secured Debt Obligation;” and (2) a 

“Servicing Agreement” (collectively referred to as the “Agreement”)  Investors send their funds 

directly to AmeriFirst. 

                                                                                         
 Case 3:07-cv-01188-D   Document 39   Filed 07/25/07    Page 8 of 21   PageID 1165



RE:  SEC v. AmeriFirst Funding, Inc., et al.         9 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

26. AmeriFirst investors may elect to receive monthly interest payments or to 

compound their earnings by rolling over interest payments into the SDO.  Most investors have 

elected to compound their returns; this has permitted AmeriFirst to make its scheduled monthly 

payments to the minority of its investors in spite of the misappropriation of investor principal 

and the low returns obtained on funds actually invested.     

27. AmeriFirst claims that it does not pay commissions or fees to its sales agents.  

However, bank records indicate that AmeriFirst has transferred millions of dollars of investor 

funds to Hess Financial as “consulting fees” and that Hess Financial has, in turn, paid large 

amounts to sales agents as “referral fees.”  These referral fees appear to equal 4% to 5% of 

the invested funds. 

28. AmeriFirst promises investors that they can expect a heightened duty of candor, 

trust and honesty from the company and its representatives.  The Agreement represents that 

“the relationship between [investor] and [AmeriFirst] will be a relationship of trust in which 

[AmeriFirst] shall comply with all the obligations of a fiduciary.”  As set forth below, Defendants 

actions belie these high-minded and comforting platitudes. 

False and Misleading Statements and Omissions 
In the Offer and Sale of AmeriFirst SDOs 

 
Safety of the Investment 

 
29. AmeriFirst promotional materials and contracts emphasize repeatedly the 

complete safety of the SDOs.  Offering materials state that the investments are “guaranteed” by 

a commercial bank.  Elsewhere, the materials claim that AFI is a “bank holding company” 

whose affiliate American Eagle has a “banking license from the State of Texas.” 

30. Amerifirst further represents that investors are insulated from risk by several 

layers of insurance coverage.  The following statements from AmeriFirst sales literature, 
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correspondence to investors and potential investors from Bruteyn and Bowden and the 

investment contracts themselves are illustrative of the Defendants’ representations: 

• “[i]n addition to AmeriFirst’s guarantee of your investment, the Fireman’s 

Fund Insurance Group reinsures all of our receivable accounts;“ 

• AmeriFirst carries “a FRAUD and DISHONESTY BOND with Western 

Surety Company;” 

• AmeriFirst’s obligation is “guaranteed by a Commercial Bank and 

reinsured by two outside AA rated insurance companies.  The reinsurance 

companies are Allianz and Lloyd’s of London;”  

• “[f]or insured notes (AmeriFirst) agree to keep a fully covered single 

interest coverage policy on all uninsured receivables at all times by The 

American National Insurance Company;” 

• AmeriFirst’s insurance coverage is comparable to FDIC insurance. 

31. To accentuate the impact of these representations, AmeriFirst provides investors 

and potential investors with copies of certificates purporting to verify the coverage by Lloyds, 

Allianz, Collateral Protection, Fireman’s Fund and Western Surety Company.  In discussing the 

purported insurance coverage, AmeriFirst investor materials boast that “[d]ue to the security of 

our Secured Debt Obligation Account, we feel that it is a perfect investment vehicle for 

someone in a conservative financial position.” 

32. As the name of the security implies, AmeriFirst also represents that investor 

accounts will be protected by collateral.  The Agreement states that AmeriFirst will “provide 

mutually agreeable collateral to secure this note within one month of the date of execution of 

this Note.”     

                                                                                         
 Case 3:07-cv-01188-D   Document 39   Filed 07/25/07    Page 10 of 21   PageID 1167



RE:  SEC v. AmeriFirst Funding, Inc., et al.         11 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

33. Finally, AmeriFirst purports to assure the safety of investor funds through its 

conservative investment policy.  AmeriFirst promises that the “funds advanced by investors shall 

be held either in cash in the investor’s separate account, government or corporate AAA bonds, 

qualified receivables or publicly traded stock, namely IFHC.” 

34. In fact, AmeriFirst’s contention that investor accounts are virtually risk-free is 

built on a foundation of lies.  Contrary to AmeriFirst’s claim, there is no evidence that the 

AmeriFirst SDOs are guaranteed by a commercial bank.  American Eagle is not, as represented 

by AmeriFirst, licensed as a commercial bank.  Moreover, no other commercial bank guarantees 

AmeriFirst’s obligations to its investors.  The investor notes were never secured by collateral. 

35. AmeriFirst’s description of the insurance protecting investors is also false and 

misleading.  AmeriFirst does not carry insurance that guarantees its “receivables or investor 

accounts”.   During the relevant period, AmeriFirst has had in effect no insurance coverage from 

Fireman’s Fund or Allianz.  AmeriFirst’s policy with Lloyds covers only losses relating to the 

automobiles that collateralize notes written or purchased by American Eagle.  The Lloyd’s 

coverage, moreover, is limited to an annual aggregate maximum of $200,000, a fraction of 

AmeriFirst’s obligations to its investors. 

36. The “fraud and dishonesty bond” issued by Western Surety covers only 

fraudulent and dishonest acts committed by an employee against the company, such as 

embezzlement or theft of property.  It does not protect investors or their accounts.  Moreover, 

it is limited to $100,000 per employee, with an aggregate maximum coverage limit of $600,000.   

37. Additionally, AmeriFirst failed to collateralize any of its debt to investors.  

Defendants, in fact, have made no effort to protect investors, as they promised, by securing the 

investments with collateral.   A security agreement was drafted providing Amerifirst with a 

security interest in American Eagle receivables, but even that document was never executed. 
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38. Finally, AmeriFirst consistently deviates from its promise to place funds in 

specified low-risk investments.  As set forth more fully below, AmeriFirst has used millions of 

dollars collected from clients to purchase low-grade and speculative investments, as set forth 

more fully below. 

Misuse and Misappropriation of Investor Funds 

39. AmeriFirst has not used investor funds for the purposes represented to investors.  

The Defendants have stolen millions of dollars and risked millions more in unauthorized 

investment vehicles. 

40. Contrary to their representations to investors, Defendants have not maintained 

separate accounts on behalf of each of AmeriFirst’s investors.  AmeriFirst has commingled 

investor funds in accounts controlled by Bruteyn and Bowden. 

41. At least $4.7 million of investor funds have been transferred from AmeriFirst to 

Hess Financial’s accounts and another $2.49 million of investor funds have been directly 

deposited in the Hess account; Bruteyn effectively treats Hess accounts as his personal 

checking account.  Among the personal payments Bruteyn has made through this account are: 

$2.19 million to purchase 58 acres on Roatan; $160,000 in credit card payments; $109,000 for 

a divorce settlement and child support; $79,000 as payment on an Aston Martin automobile; 

$35,000 for flooring at “Tile Land,” purchase of an airplane (Bowden is a pilot); and various 

amounts totaling more than $750,000 for other personal expenses such as country club dues, 

interior decorating services (provided by Bowden’s wife), landscaping services, utilities, travel 

and cash withdrawals.  Bowden also received over $850,000 from Hess to pay Ronald Whitcraft, 

Bruteyn’s step-father, who is the record owner of the Dallas home where Bruteyn lives.  Ronald 

Whitcraft is a resident of Pennsylvania.   
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42. Defendants have spent $1.4 million on commercial real estate to expand their 

chain of used car dealerships.  They have spent approximately $2.3 million to fund business 

operations, including expenditures to purchase the inventory of automobiles for the used car 

lots. 

43. AmeriFirst has placed none of the funds collected from investors in secure, 

collateralized investments.  Instead, Defendants have placed millions of dollars in such risky 

investments as junk-rated corporate bonds, call options, common stocks in volatile industries, 

such as the technology sector, and floating rate funds. 

Misrepresentations and Omissions Concerning the Background 
Of AmeriFirst and Its Principals 

44. AmeriFirst sales literature and correspondence describes the background of the 

company and its principals in solely positive, if not laudatory, terms.  Defendants represent that 

AmeriFirst and its present management have been “in business for 15 years without one 

complaint or late payment.”     

45. AmeriFirst boasts that Bruteyn, its managing director, is a “CRCP (Certified 

Regulatory and Compliance Professional) from the Wharton School of Business.”  AmeriFirst 

describes Bruteyn as holding “Series 7, 24 and 63 securities licenses” from the NASD and 

further touts his experience as director of an investment banking department, where “[i]n 

addition to market making and brokerage activities, Mr. Bruteyn specialized in compliance 

issues pertaining to these activities.” 

46. Defendants fail to disclose to investors Bruteyn’s history of financial 

irresponsibility and his record of securities-related sanctions.  Within the past decade, once in 

1998 and again in 2005, Bruteyn discharged his personal debts through a no-asset Chapter 7 

Bankruptcy.  Bruteyn has been sanctioned by the NASD for numerous improprieties and, in 

August 2003, was finally barred from association with any NASD member.  As a consequence, 
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contrary to AmeriFirst’s claim, Bruteyn no longer holds any NASD securities licenses.  Bruteyn 

was also CEO of AmeriFirst Securities Corp., a broker-dealer which withdrew its registrations 

with the SEC and NASD in 2001 while it was under NASD suspension for failing to respond to a 

request for financial information by the NASD and for failing to pay a fee.    

ONGOING ACTIVITIES AND FUTURE PROSPECTS 

47. Defendants’ offer and sale of the AmeriFirst SDOs was ongoing through July 2, 

2007.  The Receiver for Amerifirst continued to receive investor checks in the mail.  AmeriFirst 

continued to promote the program, collect investor funds and pay commissions to its sales 

agents through July 2, 2007. 

48. As a consequence of Defendants’ pattern of misappropriating principal and 

placing client funds in investments that provide insubstantial returns, AmeriFirst investors are 

likely to suffer significant losses estimated to be $15 million or more.  A large proportion of 

AmeriFirst clients have elected to let their returns compound, rather than receiving interest 

payments on a monthly basis.  AmeriFirst has managed to make interest payments to the other 

investors; it is not, however, preserving sufficient principal and earning sufficient income to 

meet its obligations to compounding investors when their AmeriFirst SDOs mature. 

49. Twice in the past decade, Bruteyn has had to resort to the bankruptcy court as a 

consequence of his propensity to incur financial obligations that he is not prepared to fulfill.  In 

the absence of emergency relief, these Defendants will likely, in the near future, repeat this 

pattern of irresponsibility and AmeriFirst investors will suffer great financial distress and 

hardship.  The relief requested by the Commission will circumscribe the damage to present 

investors, prevent others from falling prey to AmeriFirst’s false and misleading claims, and 

enhance the ability of the Commission to provide victims with monetary relief. 
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FIRST CLAIM 
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act  

 
[As to All Defendants] 

 
50. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 49 of this 

Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim. 

51. The Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in 

connection with the offer or sale of securities, by use of the means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce and by use of the mails have:  (a) employed devices, schemes and 

artifices to defraud;  (b) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material 

facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading; and  (c)  engaged in acts, practices and courses of 

business which operate as a fraud and deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers and 

other persons. 

52. As a part of and in furtherance of their scheme, the Defendants, directly and 

indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents, promotional 

materials, investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which contained untrue 

statements of material facts and misrepresentations of material facts, and which omitted to 

state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, including, but not limited to, those 

set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 49 above. 

53. With respect to violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act, the 

Defendants were negligent in their actions regarding the representations and omissions alleged 

herein.  With respect to violations of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act, the Defendants 

made the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions knowingly or with severe 

recklessness regarding the truth.   
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54. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have violated and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to violate Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]. 

SECOND CLAIM 
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 

 
[As to All Defendants] 

 
55. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 49 of this 

Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim. 

56. The Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in 

connection with the purchase or sale of securities, by use of the means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce and by use of the mails have:  (a) employed devices, schemes and 

artifices to defraud;  (b) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material 

facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading; and  (c)  engaged in acts, practices and courses of 

business which operate as a fraud and deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers and 

other persons. 

57. As a part of and in furtherance of their scheme, the Defendants, directly and 

indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents, promotional 

materials, investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which contained untrue 

statements of material facts and misrepresentations of material facts, and which omitted to 

state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, including, but not limited to, those 

set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 49 above. 

58. The Defendants made the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions 

knowingly or with severe recklessness regarding the truth.   
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59. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants violated and, unless enjoined, will 

continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 

thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]. 

THIRD CLAIM 
Violations of Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act 

[As to All Defendants] 
 

60. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 49 of this 

Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim. 

61. Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly and in concert with others, have been 

offering to sell, selling and delivering after sale, certain securities, and have been, directly and 

indirectly: (a) making use of the means and instruments of transportation and communication 

in interstate commerce and of the mails to sell securities, through the use of written contracts, 

offering documents and otherwise; (b) carrying and causing to be carried through the mails and 

in interstate commerce by the means and instruments of transportation, such securities for the 

purpose of sale and for delivery after sale; and (c) making use of the means or instruments of 

transportation and communication in interstate commerce and of the mails to offer to sell such 

securities. 

62. As described in paragraphs 1 through 49, the AmeriFirst investments described in 

detail herein, have been offered and sold to the public through a general solicitation of 

investors.  No registration statements were ever filed with the Commission or otherwise in 

effect with respect to these securities. 

63. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have violated and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 

77e(c)]. 
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FOURTH CLAIM 
Claim Against the Relief Defendants 

As Custodians of Investor Funds 

64. Plaintiff Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 49 of this 

Complaint and incorporated herein by reference as if set forth verbatim. 

65. As set forth in this Complaint, Relief Defendants have received funds and 

property from one or more of the Defendants, which are the proceeds, or are traceable to the 

proceeds, of the unlawful activities of Defendants, as alleged in paragraphs 1 through 49, 

above. 

66. Relief Defendants have obtained the funds and property alleged above as part of 

and in furtherance of the securities violations alleged in paragraphs 1 through 49 and under the 

circumstances in which it is not just, equitable or conscionable for them to retain the funds and 

property.  As a consequence, Relief Defendants Hess and American Eagle have been unjustly 

enriched. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court: 

I. 

Temporarily, preliminarily and permanently Defendants from violating Sections 5(a), 

5(c), and 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 

thereunder. 
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II. 

 Enter an Order instanter freezing the assets of Defendants and Relief Defendants and 

directing that all financial or depository institutions comply with the Court’s Order.  Furthermore, 

order instanter that Defendants and Relief Defendants repatriate any funds held at any bank or 

other financial institution not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court, and that they direct the 

deposit of such funds in identified accounts in the United States, pending conclusion of this matter.   

III. 

 Order instanter that Defendants and Relief Defendants shall file with the Court and 

serve upon Plaintiff Commission, no later than 72 hours after notice of this Order, an 

accounting, under oath, detailing all of their assets and all funds or other assets received from 

investors and from one another. 

IV. 

 Order instanter that Defendants and Relief Defendants be restrained and enjoined from 

destroying, removing, mutilating, altering, concealing or disposing of, in any manner, any of their 

books and records or documents relating to the matters set forth in the Complaint, or the books 

and records and such documents of any entities under their control, until further order of the 

Court.  

V. 

 Order instanter the appointment of a receiver pendente lite for Defendants and Relief 

Defendants, for the benefit of AmeriFirst investors, to marshal, conserve, protect and hold 

funds and assets obtained by the Defendants and Relief Defendants and their agents, co-

conspirators and others involved in this scheme, wherever such assets may be found, or, with 

the approval of the Court, dispose of any wasting asset in accordance with the application and 

proposed order provided herewith. 
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VI. 

 Order that the parties may commence discovery immediately, and that notice periods be 

shortened to permit the parties to require production of documents, or the deposition of any 

party or party-representative, on 72 hours notice. 

VII. 

 Order the Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to the funds and benefits they 

obtained illegally as a result of the violations alleged herein, plus prejudgment interest on that 

amount, and order the Relief Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to the illegally obtained 

investors’ funds they received from the Defendants, plus prejudgment interest on that amount. 

VIII. 

 Order civil penalties against the Defendants pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities 

Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)], and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)], for the 

violations alleged herein. 

IX. 

Order such further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

For the Commission, by its attorneys: 

Dated and signed on the 25th day of July 2007 

     /s/ Jeffrey B. Norris    
JEFFREY B. NORRIS 
Washington, D.C. Bar No. 424258 
U.S. SECURITIES & EXCHANGE  
COMMISSION 
801 Cherry St., 19th Floor 
Fort Worth, Texas  76102 
Office:  (817) 978-6452 
Fax:   (817) 978-4927 
 
PLAINTIFFF DEMANDS TRIAL BY JURY
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on this 25h day of July, 2007, I electronically filed the foregoing 
First Amended Complaint with the Clerk of the Court for the District of Kansas, Wichita 
Division, by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following CM/ECF participants. 
 
Jeffrey B. Norris, Counsel for Plaintiff 
Spencer Barasch, Receiver’s Counsel 
Phillip W. Offill, Jr., Defendants’ and Relief Defendants’ Counsel  
 

I further certify that on the 25th day of July, 2007, I served a true and correct copy of 
the foregoing First Amended Complaint and the notice of electronic filing by depositing a 
copy thereof in the U.S. Mail or by electronic mail or in an authorized Federal Express 
depository at Fort Worth, Texas, with first class or overnight express charges prepaid and 
addressed to the following parties and persons entitled to notice that are non-CM/ECF 
participants:   
 
William Brown 
12221 Merit Drive, Suite 1400 
Dallas, Texas 75251-2280 
Receiver  - Via Electronic Mail  

 

 
 
      /s Jeffrey B. Norris      
      Jeffrey B. Norris 
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